S267746

No. 20-55099

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

ALLIED PREMIER INSURANCE,

Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

UNITED FINANCIAL CASUALTY COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Central District of California, No. 5:18-cv-00088-JGB-KKX,

The Honorable Jesus G. Bernal

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Patrick M. Howe (State Bar No. 154669)
PATRICK HOWE LAW, APC
402 W. Broadway, Suite 1025
San Diego, CA 92101
(619) 398-3422 | (619) 452-2507 Fax
pat@patrickhowelaw.com

Attorney for defendant-appellant United Financial Casualty Company

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

The district court erred in granting summary judgment to Allied and denying summary judgment to United Financial in this dispute between two insurers. Commercial truck driver José Porras bought insurance from each insurer, but at different times. Porras was sued for wrongful death for an accident involving his truck. The accident occurred while Allied's policy was in force, and Allied settled the wrongful death lawsuit. The dispute here turns on whether United Financial, whose policy expired months earlier, also insured Porras for the accident. In finding that United Financial must contribute to the settlement, the district court erroneously construed Cal. Veh. Code § 34630, California's statute governing the cancellation of a commercial trucker's proof of financial responsibility. The summary judgment ruling should be reversed.

California requires commercial truckers like Porras to purchase liability insurance, and conditions their license to operate on the filing by the insurer with the DMV of a "certificate of insurance" on DMV form MCP 65 proving that coverage is in place. When Porras switched insurers, the United Financial policy expired, but due to a paperwork glitch, the United Financial certificate remained on file with the DMV, even while Allied's certificate was

also on file. The district court erroneously equated United Financial's certificate with the insurance policy itself. But the plain language of California's Vehicle Code, the legislative history, and analogous federal decisions confirm that an uncancelled MCP 65 certificate is not an insurance policy.

The policy and the certificate serve different functions. A policy specifies the insurer's obligations *to the insured*, protecting against liability from third party claims. The certificate confirms the existence of the policy and specifies the insurer's separate obligations *to third parties* who may be injured in situations where coverage under the policy is for some reason unavailable. Conflating the policy and the certificate, the district court erroneously concluded that United Financial owed coverage despite the expiration of its policy. The court's explanations for its ruling, and its belief that United Financial and Allied were co-insurers, do not make sense.

Because United Financial's policy had expired, it is not obliged to share responsibility for Allied's settlement. That dooms Allied's claims here. For this reason and others explained below, Allied's claims fail and United Financial is entitled to judgment.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court had diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). United Financial is an Ohio corporation with its principal place of business in Ohio. (2 ER 108–109.) Allied is a Connecticut corporation; its principal place of business is not in Ohio. (2 ER 108.) Allied served its state court complaint on December 15, 2017, claiming more than \$75,000 in damages. (2 ER 109, 115–116.) United Financial timely removed the case to federal court on January 12, 2018. (2 ER 107.)

On December 30, 2019, the district court entered judgment for Allied after granting Allied's motion for summary judgment and denying United Financial's cross-motion for summary judgment. (1 ER 1.) United Financial timely filed a notice of appeal on January 28, 2020. (2 ER 33.) Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1)(A); 28 U.S.C. § 2107.

The Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 because the judgment is final—it disposed of all claims between the parties.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the district court err in ruling that an expired insurance policy issued to a commercial trucker remained in force on the date of a post-expiration accident, by operation of a statute (Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b))

that restricts cancellation of a state-required *certificate of insurance*, but does not, on its face, govern cancellation of *private contracts of* insurance?

2. If United Financial's insurance policy was not in force on the date of the accident, did the district court err in ruling Allied was entitled to summary judgment on its claims for contribution, subrogation, and related declaratory relief?

ADDENDUM TO BRIEF

An addendum is at the end of this brief. It contains the verbatim language of relevant sections of: Cal. Veh. Code §§ 34630, 34631, and 34631.5; Cal. Ins. Code §§ 675.5 and 677.2; and 13 Cal. Code. Regs. § 220.06.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. José Porras was a "motor carrier of property" who, until April 2015, purchased liability insurance from United Financial.

Porras was a commercial trucker, i.e., a "motor carrier of property" under Cal. Veh. Code § 34630 et seq. (2 ER 82.) He received his operating permit from the DMV in 2013. (2 ER 82.)

Porras obtained auto liability insurance from United Financial under a policy that listed his 2013 Dodge RAM 3500 pickup truck and provided

bodily injury liability coverage of \$750,000. (2 ER 82.) The policy applied only to accidents that occurred during the policy period. (2 ER 89.) The policy also stated coverage would automatically terminate at the end of the policy period if Porras did not accept United Financial's offer to renew coverage. (2 ER 90.)

To operate as a trucker, Porras was required to demonstrate to the DMV his financial responsibility for liability arising out of his commercial trucking activity. Cal. Veh. Code, §§ 34630(a), 34631(a), 34631.5(a)(1). Over the years, he fulfilled that requirement by paying United Financial for an endorsement to his insurance policy, on DMV form MCP 67, under which United Financial promised to pay a judgment against Porras arising out of the commercial use of his truck ("any vehicle(s) for which a motor carrier permit is required, whether or not such vehicle(s) is described in the attached policy"). (2 ER 82, 92.) The endorsement stated United Financial could seek reimbursement from Porras for any sums paid because of the endorsement and that, unless specified, all terms, conditions and limitations in the insurance policy remained in force as to Porras. (2 ER 92.)

United Financial also filed an MCP 65 certificate of insurance with the DMV as proof the MCP 67 endorsement had been issued. (2 ER 83, 91.) The

MCP 65 certificate stated it would not be canceled without thirty days' notice to the DMV. (2 ER 91.)

Porras renewed the United Financial policy several times and increased the policy's coverage limit to \$1 million. (2 ER 83.) United Financial filed with the DMV several notices of cancellation of its MCP 65 certificates when Porras made changes to or renewed his policy. (2 ER 83.)

B. Porras did not renew his United Financial policy in April 2015, but instead purchased insurance from Allied. Like United Financial before it, Allied filed an MCP 65 certificate of insurance with the DMV to show proof of financial responsibility.

Effective April 12, 2015, the United Financial policy expired pursuant to the contract's automatic termination provisions when Porras decided not to renew the United Financial policy. (2 ER 83.) Instead, effective April 13, 2015, Porras purchased his insurance coverage from Allied. (2 ER 83.) The Allied policy listed the same pickup truck and provided the same bodily injury liability coverage of \$1 million. (2 ER 83.)

As United Financial had done, Allied filed an MCP 65 certificate of insurance with the DMV, which likewise stated it would not be canceled on less than 30 days' notice to the DMV. (2 ER 83, 102.)

C. At the time of Porras' September 2015 accident, the DMV had on file two MCP 65 certificates—one from United Financial and one from Allied. Allied paid to settle the wrongful death lawsuit resulting from the accident.

As of September 2015, the DMV had on file MCP 65 certificates from both United Financial and Allied because the DMV had returned one of United Financial's cancellation notices on a clerical ground: the policy number or effective date on the notice of cancellation was not on file with the department. (2 ER 84, 103–104.)

On September 1, 2015, Porras was involved in a collision with Jennifer Jones. Porras was driving the pickup truck insured by the Allied policy.

(2 ER 84.) Jones died as a result of the accident. (2 ER 84.) Her parents filed a wrongful death lawsuit. (2 ER 84.) Allied retained counsel to defend the case and settled the lawsuit for \$1 million. (2 ER 84.)

D. Allied sued United Financial for contribution of half of the settlement amount. The district court granted Allied's motion for summary judgment and United Financial appealed.

Allied then sued United Financial to recover half of the \$1 million settlement. Allied's complaint asserted three claims for declaratory relief, equitable contribution, and equitable subrogation. (2 ER 110–114.) The complaint alleged that, even though United Financial's insurance policy had

expired, it still owed coverage because one of United Financial's MCP 65 certificates was still on file with the DMV when the accident occurred. (2 ER 111–112.)

In answering the complaint, United Financial alleged that its *insurance policy* providing liability coverage to Porras was not in force on the date of the accident and, in any event, Allied's policy provided primary coverage for all purposes under Cal. Ins. Code § 11580.9. (2 ER 106.)

Allied and United Financial stipulated to a set of facts and exhibits and filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (2 ER 81–104.) United Financial argued Allied's contribution, subrogation, and declaratory relief claims failed because the United Financial policy expired several months before the accident. (2 ER 72.) United Financial argued its MCP 65 certificate on file with the DMV could not support Allied's claims. United Financial raised several arguments supporting its core theory that the MCP 65 certificate imposed only a surety-type obligation toward third parties injured by truckers (an obligation that *would not* trigger equitable contribution or subrogation here), and was not an insurance policy (an obligation that *would*).(2 ER 72–79).

In response, Allied changed theories. In its summary judgment motion, Allied abandoned the theory it was entitled to relief based on United Financial's active MCP 65 certificate. Instead, relying on Transamerica Ins. Co. v. Tab Transportation, Inc., 12 Cal.4th 389 (1995) and Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 234 Cal.App.3d 1154 (1991), Allied argued the United Financial policy was still in force on the date of the accident, despite expiring several months earlier, because United Financial's MCP 65 certificate was not effectively cancelled prior to the accident. (2 ER 57–62.)

The district court granted Allied's motion and denied United Financial's motion. The court reasoned *Tab Transportation* and *Fireman's Fund* were persuasive, because in each the court held an insurer's failure to give the responsible regulator (the California Public Utilities Commission) thirty days' notice of cancellation *of an insurance policy* meant the policy remained continuously in force until the regulator received proper notice. (1 ER 11–13.)

The district court agreed with United Financial that *Tab*Transportation and Fireman's Fund were based on California's former

Highway Carriers' Act, Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 3501 et seq., which was

repealed and replaced by the Motor Carriers of Property Permit Act, Cal.

Veh. Code § 34600 et seq. (the "MCPP Act"), prior to the accident in this case. (1 ER 12–13; 2 ER 44–47.) The court also acknowledged key differences in statutory language. The cancellation provisions of the repealed statute stated a "policy of insurance" shall not be cancelable on less than thirty days' written notice, whereas Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b) states a "certificate of insurance" shall not be cancelable on less than thirty days' written notice. (1 ER 12–13.) Nevertheless, the court ruled the cancellation provisions of Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b) applied not merely to United Financial's MCP 65 certificate, but also to its policy. (1 ER 13.)

In light of its conclusion the United Financial policy was in force at the time of the accident, the district court rejected United Financial's arguments that the active MCP 65 certificate itself could not form the factual basis for Allied's contribution, subrogation, and declaratory relief claims. (1 ER 14–19.)

United Financial timely appealed the judgment. (2 ER 33.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court's judgment should be reversed, and the court should be directed to enter a new judgment for United Financial. United Financial's argument proceeds in two steps.

1. An insurer provides the DMV with a "certificate of insurance" under Cal. Veh. Code § 34630 not to duplicate the insurance policy's promise to the insured, but to demonstrate the insured's financial responsibility to the DMV and to the general public. In certain situations, the certificate obligates an insurer (like a surety) to third parties injured by an insured if the insurance policy does not provide coverage, but it does not create an obligation to the insured or another insurer.

The district court erred in concluding that United Financial's uncancelled certificate of insurance was the equivalent of an active insurance policy. The court could reach that conclusion only by ignoring the plain meaning of the cancellation provisions of Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b). The phrase "certificate of insurance" unambiguously refers only to the MCP 65 certificate of insurance specified in 13 Cal. Code Regs. § 220.06(a). That phrase does not refer to the insurance policy itself.

The district court erred in its approach to statutory construction, relying improperly on the absence of case law to circumvent the plain language of the operative statutory provisions, and failing to appreciate the significance of legislative history, which favors United Financial. As explained in the legal argument below, three aspects of that history make clear the cancellation provisions in the statute apply only to the MCP 65 certificate.

On top of this, analogous federal decisions construing similar certificates of insurance (used by federally regulated interstate truckers and truckers in other states) have distinguished those certificates from insurance policies. The district court failed to appreciate the distinct functions of the certificate and the policy and therefore erred in equating the two.

The district court erred in relying on *Tab Transportation* and *Fireman's Fund* to rule that United Financial's expired policy was actually in force when the accident occurred. Both cases were based on the cancellation provisions of a materially different statute—former Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 3634 and its related regulation, which stated a trucker's "policy of insurance" shall not be cancelable absent thirty days' written notice. The governing statute here—Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b)—governs only

cancellation of the MCP 65 certificate. It imposes no requirements for canceling an insurance policy.

The district court's reliance on these cases was also misplaced because they were based on the rule that statutes and regulations prevail over conflicting policy terms when the former are by law incorporated into the latter. Applying that rule here was unnecessary because there was no conflict between the cancellation terms of the United Financial policy and CAL. VEH. CODE § 34630(b) and 13 CAL. CODE REGS. § 220.06(a). But applying that rule between the United Financial policy and the MCP 65 certificate (because the district court treated them as one) leads to absurd results, like eliminating United Financial's contractual duty to defend its insured and its right to seek reimbursement from Porras for any amounts paid under the MCP 67 endorsement in the event actual coverage is unavailable under the policy. The language in the documents cannot be harmonized unless each document is treated separately.

2. Because the United Financial policy was not in force on the date of loss, Allied is not entitled to contribution, subrogation, or comparable declaratory relief. By holding otherwise, the district court granted Allied relief based on United Financial's MCP 65 certificate and MCP 67

endorsement, documents that cannot be the basis of Allied's claims because they are intended to benefit an injured party, such as the wrongful death claimants here, not a policyholder or another insurance company.

The district court's judgment will also result in a futile circuity of action. It exposes Porras to United Financial's reimbursement right under the MCP 67 endorsement. Porras would then have a valid claim under Allied's policy. Allied would then again pursue contribution and subrogation against United Financial based on the district court's ruling.

Finally, United Financial's obligation to an injured third party under the MCP 65 certificate and MCP 67 endorsement are triggered only by a judgment against Porras. Porras did not suffer a judgment because Allied settled the wrongful death lawsuit. There is no basis for United Financial to share Allied's settlement obligation, so this Court should reverse the judgment for Allied.

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL STANDARD AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court should grant summary judgment if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477

U.S. 242, 247–248 (1986). There are no disputed facts in this case. The only issue to be resolved is which party's legal position based on the undisputed facts is correct.

A district court's summary judgment ruling is reviewed de novo.

Branch Banking & Tr. Co. v. D.M.S.I., LLC, 871 F.3d 751, 759 (9th Cir. 2017); Guatay Christian Fellowship v. County of San Diego, 670 F.3d 957, 970 (9th Cir. 2011). This Court applies the same standard as the district court. Suzuki Motor Corp. v. Consumers Union, Inc., 330 F.3d 1110, 1131 (9th Cir. 2003).

- II. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY EQUATED UNITED FINANCIAL'S CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE WITH ITS INSURANCE POLICY.
 - A. By its plain language, Cal. Veh. Code § 34630(b) restricts only the terms under which an MCP 65 certificate of insurance can be cancelled, not the terms under which an insurance policy can be cancelled.

When analyzing a California statute, federal courts are bound by California's rules of statutory interpretation. *In re Reaves*, 285 F.3d 1152, 1156 (9th Cir. 2002); *Goldman v. Salisbury*, 70 F.3d 1028, 1029 (9th Cir. 1995) (per curiam). Under California's rules, a court's task is to ascertain the Legislature's intent. *Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt*, 47 Cal.4th

381, 387 (2009). To do so, a court must first look at the statute's words and give them "their usual and ordinary meaning." That meaning controls unless the words are ambiguous. *Id.* at 388; *DaFonte v. Up-Right, Inc.*, 2 Cal.4th 593, 601 (1992).

A court must give significance to every word, phrase, and sentence used in the statute so as to avoid an interpretation that would render words meaningless, inoperative, or superfluous. *Shoemaker v. Myers*, 52 Cal.3d 1, 22 (1990). "Where different words or phrases are used in the same connection in different parts of the statute, it is presumed the Legislature intended a different meaning." *Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity*, 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1117 (1999).

Unless the statute's words give rise to more than one reasonable interpretation, a court may not consider other interpretative aids, such as the statute's purpose and legislative history. *Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles*, 34 Cal.4th 733, 737 (2004). As the state high court instructed in *Green v. State of California*, 42 Cal.4th 254, 260 (2007): "If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, no court need, or should, go beyond that pure expression of legislative intent."

The financial responsibility provisions of the MCPP Act are contained in Chapter 3 of the act, Cal. Veh. Code §§ 34630–34634. Section 34630 identifies the insurance policy that provides coverage as being distinct from the certificate that reflects that a policy has issued:

(a) A motor carrier permit shall not be granted to any motor carrier of property until there is filed with the department proof of financial responsibility in the form of a currently effective *certificate of insurance*, issued by a company licensed to write that insurance in this state or by a nonadmitted insurer subject to Section 1763 of the Insurance Code, *if the policy represented by the certificate* meets the minimum insurance requirements contained in Section 34631.5. ...

(Emphasis added.)

Section 34630(b) goes on to explain limits on an insurer's cancellation of *the certificate*, without reference to the policy:

(b) Proof of financial responsibility shall be continued in effect during the active life of the motor carrier permit. The *certificate of insurance* shall not be cancelable on less than 30 days' written notice from the insurer to the department except in the event of cessation of operations as a permitted motor carrier of property.

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