#### S267746

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## ALLIED PREMIER INSURANCE,

Respondent

v.

#### UNITED FINANCIAL CASUALTY COMPANY, Petitioner

\_\_\_\_\_

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT CASE NO. 20-55099

#### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_

BOOTH LLP Hillary Arrow Booth (SBN 125936) hbooth@boothllp.com 11835 W. Olympic Boulevard, Suite 600E Los Angeles, CA 90064 (310) 641-1800

Attorneys for Respondent ALLIED PREMIER INSURANCE

##

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

#### 1. THE ENACTMENT OF THE MCPPA DID NOT CHANGE THE MEANING, UNDERLYING POLICY, OR LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF THE HCA

# a. The Framework of the MCPPA Confirms its Consistency With the HCA

The MCPPA was enacted by the California legislature in 1996 to replace the HCA as part of the transfer of responsibility for regulating motor carriers from the Public Utilities Commission ("PUC") to the DMV. Prior to 1996, the PUC had authority to regulate motor carriers, and exercised that authority to regulate their rates, routes, and services, among other things. However, the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994 ("FAAAA") preempted states' authority to regulate prices, routes, and the service of highway carriers which transport property, with the exception of household goods carriers and passenger carriers. The California Legislature enacted the MCPPA in part to address the FAAAA, and stated in its California Bill Analysis, A.B. 1683 Sen., 6/10/1996:

"The Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994 (P.L. 103–305) preempted the states' authority to regulate prices, routes or the service of highway carriers which transport property, with the exception of household goods carriers and passenger carriers. It did not, however, preempt a states' authority to regulate intra-state carriers of property with regard to safety, insurance, uniform cargo liability rules, uniform bills of lading, uniform cargo credit rules and certain other non-rate related areas.

This bill would restructure the state's regulatory authority over highway carriers of property and passengers operating within California to reflect the preemptions enacted in federal law and would make additional changes related to the transfer of remaining state regulatory powers among various state agencies."

Comment 1 of the Bill Analysis states, "[t]his bill is intended to conform state law with the new regulatory environment and restrictions ushered in by the preemptory federal legislation." Nowhere in the legislative history, or elsewhere, is it stated or even implied that the intent of the MCPPA was to modify the financial responsibility requirements for motor carriers, or to change the policy or procedures surrounding motor carriers' insurance or the required Endorsement. Like the HCA, the MCPPA requires motor carriers to prove that they have adequate financial protection against liability, or they will be denied an operating permit, or any existing permit will be cancelled. (Veh. Code, § 34630.)

Vehicle Code section 34630, reads:

"(a) A motor carrier permit shall not be granted to any motor carrier of property until there is filed with the department proof of financial responsibility in the form of a currently effective certificate of insurance, issued by a company licensed to write that insurance in this state or by a non-admitted insurer subject to Section 1763 of the Insurance Code, if the policy represented by the certificate meets the minimum insurance requirements contained in Section 34631.5. The certificate of insurance or surety bond shall provide coverage with respect to the operation. maintenance, or use of any vehicle for which a permit is required, although the vehicle may not be specifically described in the policy, or a bond of surety issued by a company licensed to write surety bonds in this state, or written evidence of self-insurance by providing the self-insured number granted by the department on a form approved by the department.

(b) Proof of financial responsibility shall be continued in effect during the active life of the motor carrier permit. The certificate of insurance shall not be cancelable on less than 30 days' written notice from the insurer to the department except in the event of cessation of operations as a permitted motor carrier of property.

(c) Whenever the department determines or is notified that the certificate of insurance or surety bond of a motor carrier of property will lapse or be terminated, the department shall suspend the carrier's permit effective on the date of lapse or termination unless the carrier provides evidence of valid insurance coverage pursuant to subdivision (a)."

This statute clearly provides that the Certificate of Insurance ("COI") is a representation of the policy, and is not a policy or financial proof in and of itself. Vehicle Code section 34631.5 makes this clear: "(b)(1) The protection required under subdivision (a) [monetary policy limits requirements] shall be evidenced by the deposit with the department, covering each vehicle used or to be used in conducting the service performed by each motor carrier of property, an authorized certificate of public liability and property damage insurance..." The COI serves as evidence of the policy; it is not, in and of itself, evidence of the financial responsibility.

In order to obtain a motor carrier permit, the motor carrier must have a "currently effective certificate of insurance" on file with the DMV, in which case the "policy [is] represented by the certificate." (Veh. Code, § 34630, subd. (a).) This COI (as a representation of the policy) "shall provide coverage with respect to the operation, maintenance, or use of any vehicle for which a permit is required, although the vehicle may not be specifically described in the policy." § 34630, subd. (a) The COI is evidence of the underlying insurance policy, and must be currently effective in order for a motor carrier of property to receive and maintain a motor carrier permit. Because the COI represents the policy, it cannot exist without an underlying policy.

The MCPPA further provides that "[p]roof of financial responsibility shall be continued in effect during the active life of the motor carrier permit." (Veh. Code, § 34630, subd. (b).) The COI evidences the financial responsibility, and it is effective as long as the motor carrier permit is active and an insurance policy exists. The only way to cancel the COI and the represented policy without 30 days' written notice to the DMV is "in the event of cessation of operations as a permitted motor carrier of property." (§ 34630, subd. (b)) Otherwise, "[t]he certificate of insurance shall not be cancellable on less than 30 days' written notice." (§ 34630, subd. (b)) There is no other way for an insurer to cancel the underlying policy or COI representation of the policy without filing the Notice of Cancellation with the DMV. If the legislature had wanted to separate the COI from the policy, or permit the policy to terminate without notice to the DMV, as argued by Petitioner, such an option would have been included in Vehicle Code section 34630, subdivision (b).<sup>2</sup>

Contrary to Petitioner's position, the MPCCA contains no exception to the requisite 30 day notification for the termination of an insurance policy when its stated term is completed. Instead, under the foregoing statutes, even if the policy represented by the COI is set to expire on a certain date, the COI and the policy it represents will remain in effect until 30 days after written notice is given to the DMV. This does not necessarily give the motor carrier 30 days of duplicate coverage as Petitioner alleges; if the process is followed correctly, the insurer will deliver the written

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *People v. Skinner*, this Court "recognize[d] the basic principle of statutory and constitutional construction which mandates that courts, in construing a measure, not undertake to rewrite its unambiguous language." *People v. Skinner* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 765, 775

Notice of Cancellation to the DMV 30 days before the policy is set to expire, as has been done by insurance companies for decades.

#### b. The Variance in Language Between the HCA and the MCPPA is a Difference Without Distinction

Petitioner improperly relies upon a slight change in the language of the MCPPA from the HCA as the springboard for its arguments that (a) the financial requirements for all motor carriers were fundamentally changed by the MCPPA; (b) the COI and the policy are separate obligations and can each exist without the other; (c) that its policy terminated on its expiration date despite Petitioner's failure to cancel the COI with the DMV; and (d) that *Transamerica* and *Fireman's Fund* are no longer good law. Despite Petitioner's reliance on the language variance, the change to the language is a distinction without a difference. The new text cannot support Petitioner's positions. The comparable language in the statutes reads as follows:

The HCA, in PUC § 3634,	The MPCCA, in Cal. Veh. Code
required that "protection	§ 34630, requires "(b) [p]roof of
against liability shall be	financial responsibility shall be
continued in effect during the	continued in effect during the
active life of the permit," and	active life of the motor carrier
that "[t]he policy of insurance	permit. The certificate of
or surety bond shall not be	insurance shall not be
cancelable on less than 30	cancelable on less than 30 days'
days' written notice to the	written notice from the insurer
commission, except in the	to the department except in the
event of cessation of	event of cessation of operations
operations as a highway	as a permitted motor carrier of
carrier as approved by the	property."
commission."	
	1

Petitioner relies primarily upon the difference in the following portions of the acts:

HCA: "[t]he policy of insurance or surety bond shall not be cancelable ..." MPCCA: "[t]he certificate of insurance shall not be cancelable ..."

Contrary to the meaning ascribed by Petitioner, the language was changed in recognition that under the HCA, a copy of the actual policy was filed with the PUC, Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 3631 (West 1995), but the MPCCA did not incorporate that language or requirement. Instead, the MCPPA states that as a condition of obtaining a permit to operate, the motor carrier must provide the "...department proof of financial responsibility in the form of a currently effective certificate of insurance..." and that the COI shall be submitted to the DMV by the insurer. (Veh. Code, § 34630, subd. (a); 13 Cal. Code Regs., § 220.06(a).) Under the MCPPA, unlike the HCA, the policy itself would no longer be submitted; rather, only the COI representing the policy is now submitted. The change in the language regarding cancellation was simply to conform the language to Veh. Code, § 34630, and not to change the meaning or impact of the financial responsibility statutes, or to undermine *Transamerica* and *Fireman's Fund*. Because Vehicle Code section 34630 deems the COI to represent the policy, the filing and cancellation of the COI has the same meaning and import as the filing and cancellation of the policy under the HCA.

#### 2. FOR MOTOR CARRIERS, THE INSURANCE POLICY, THE COI, AND THE ENDORSEMENT ARE THREE INSEPARABLE PARTS OF ONE WHOLE.

The MCPPA requires that motor carriers maintain a required level of financial responsibility. That requirement may be satisfied by an insurance policy, but only if that policy (1) includes the required Endorsement as part of the policy; and (2) is evidenced to the DMV by the filing of a COI describing and attesting to the current existence of the policy. (Veh. Code, § 34630.) Thus, the statute links the documents together. Petitioner's legal position depends upon this Court determining that, contrary to this statute, the insurance policy, the Endorsement, and the COI are separate documents, each of which can exist without the others.

In addition to the statute, the DMV-created forms themselves prove Petitioner's position wrong. The language of the Endorsement and the COI make clear that they cannot exist without each other and without a currently existing insurance policy. The language on the DMV required forms confirm that Petitioner's position is incompatible with the statutory scheme. (One of those regulations) obligates insurers to evince insurance policies with the COIs and to file that evidence with the DMV. (13 CCR 220.06 (a).) Thus, the language used by the DMV is authorized by the Legislature and must be considered in determining the meaning of the MPCCA as a whole. Pursuant to its authorization, the DMV created DMV 65 MCP (the COI), DMV 66 MCP (Notice of Cancellation of Insurance), and DMV 67 MCP (the Endorsement).

The DMV is authorized by the Legislature to enact rules and regulations to carry out the intent and purpose of the MCPPA. (Veh. Code, §§ 34604 and 3463, subd. (a). Under this authorization, the DMV has created mandatory forms that have been in use since 1996. This Court has recently recognized that in such situations, "[w]e presume the validity of a regulation promulgated by a state agency. (Assn. of California Ins. Cos. v. Jones (2017) 2 Cal.5th 376, 389, 212 (Jones) Cal.Rptr.3d 395, 386 P.3d 1188.) The burden lies with the party challenging the regulation to show its invalidity. (Credit Ins. Gen. Agents Assn. v. Payne (1976) 16 Cal.3d 651, 657, 128 Cal.Rptr. 881, 547 P.2d 993.)" (In re Gadlin (2020) 10 Cal. 5th 915, 926.) Petitioner seeks to undermine the DMV's forms, and convince this Court that such forms are meaningless. However, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the DMV forms are invalid or conflict with the MCPPA. Thus, this Court should assume the validity of the language promulgated by the DMV in its forms.

DMV 65 MCP (the COI) verifies to the DMV that a policy of insurance exists (present tense) and meets the financial responsibility requirements of the MCPPA, and in relevant part reads:

"Insurer certifies to each of the following:

- The motor carrier of property (Insured) identified herein is covered by an insurance policy providing bodily injury or death liability, property damage liability insurance, or workers' compensation insurance within the coverage limits identified above as required by California Vehicle Code (CVC) Sections 34630, 34631.5 and 34640, and by Part 387 of Title 49 if the Code of Federal Regulations.
- This insurance policy covers all vehicles used in conducting the service performed by the Insured for which a motor carrier permit is required whether or not said vehicle is listed in the insurance policy.
- A fully executed endorsement, on a form authorized by the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV), is attached to the referenced policy to conform to the requirements of the Motor Carriers of Property Permit Act, CVC Section 34600 and following, and the rules and regulations of the DMV. (This provision does not apply to Workers' Compensation Insurance.)
- For the purposes of Risk Retention Group Coverage, this policy meets the requirements of the Risk Retention Act of 1991, California Insurance Code Section 125 and following, and is authorized to do business in California."

"Insurer agrees to each of the following:

- This Certificate of Insurance shall not be canceled on less than thirty (30) days' notice from the Insurer to the DMV and written on a Notice of Cancellation form authorized by the DMV, and that the thirty (30) day period commences to run from the date the Notice of Cancellation form was actually received at the office of the California Department of Motor Vehicles, Motor Carrier Services Branch, in Sacramento, California.
- A duplicate original of the referenced policy, a DMV authorized endorsement, and all other related endorsements and documentation, shall be furnished to the DMV upon request."

The COI is signed under penalty of perjury by the insurance carrier, stating, "*I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.*" (DMV 65 MCP (Rev. 9/2007 (emphasis in original).)

By its own language, the COI cannot exist without an underlying policy, and cannot be separated from that policy. Without an active insurance policy, there can be no COI. By filing the COI, the insurer certifies under penalty of perjury that "[t]he motor carrier of property (Insured) identified herein is covered by an insurance policy." (DMV 65 MCP (Rev. 9/2007) The use of the present tense verb "is" is no mistake. Its use requires the policy to remain active until the COI is cancelled. Without any supporting California authority, Petitioner now argues that the certification stated on the COI lasts only until the policy expires by its own terms, even though the COI continues to exist in the DMV files until properly cancelled using the DMV 66 MCP form. If, as Petitioner argues, the policy can expire without notice to the DMV, the COI would become false upon that expiration, subjecting the insurance company to penalties for its perjury.

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